Mississippi State University Scholars Junction

Theses and Dissertations

Theses and Dissertations

12-11-2015

# Examination of the Effects of Vitamin D Supplementation on the In Vitro Calcification of Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells

Kevin Andrew Bennett

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarsjunction.msstate.edu/td

# **Recommended Citation**

Bennett, Kevin Andrew, "Examination of the Effects of Vitamin D Supplementation on the In Vitro Calcification of Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells" (2015). *Theses and Dissertations*. 2098. https://scholarsjunction.msstate.edu/td/2098

This Graduate Thesis - Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by the Theses and Dissertations at Scholars Junction. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Scholars Junction. For more information, please contact scholcomm@msstate.libanswers.com.

Examination of the effects of vitamin D supplementation on the in vitro calcification of

vascular smooth muscle cells

By

Kevin Andrew Bennett

A Thesis Submitted to the Faculty of Mississippi State University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Biomedical Engineering in the Department of Agricultural and Biological Engineering

Mississippi State, Mississippi

December 2015

Copyright by

Kevin Andrew Bennett

Examination of the effects of vitamin D supplementation on the in vitro calcification of

vascular smooth muscle cells

By

Kevin Andrew Bennett

Approved:

Chartrisa LaShan Simpson (Major Professor)

Steven H. Elder (Committee Member/Graduate Coordinator)

> Jun Liao (Committee Member)

George Eli Howell III (Committee Member)

Jason M. Keith Dean Bagley College of Engineering Name: Kevin Andrew Bennett

Date of Degree: December 11, 2015

Institution: Mississippi State University

Major Field: Biomedical Engineering

Major Professor: Chartrisa LaShan Simpson

Title of Study: Examination of the effects of vitamin D supplementation on the in vitro calcification of vascular smooth muscle cells

Pages in Study 62

Candidate for Degree of Master of Science

Medial calcification refers to mineral deposition in the middle layer of arteries. This mineralization is common in chronic kidney disease patients and causes an increased chance of cardiovascular complications. Calcitriol, the active form of vitamin D, is often administered to these patients to treat an associated condition, secondary hyperparathyroidism. Unfortunately, calcitriol treatment may promote vascular calcification due to increasing serum calcium and phosphate. We examined the effects of calcitriol supplementation on vascular smooth muscle cell (VSMC) calcification, through atomic absorption, scanning electron microscopy, and western blot analysis. Additionally, we examined the effects of the combinations of calcitriol, fibroblast growth factor 23 (FGF-23), and klotho. We determined that calcitriol supplementation alone increased calcification but was not associated with a transition towards an osteoblast-like phenotype. On the other hand, the combination of calcitriol and FGF-23 caused a decrease in calcification, but this decrease was attenuated with the further addition of klotho.

# DEDICATION

I would like to dedicate this work to my family. In particular, to my parents, Suzanne and Neil Bennett, and brother, Chad Bennett. Thank you so much for always supporting me and for pushing me to make the most out of life. I hope that you're proud of everything that I've accomplished. I would also like to dedicate this work to Keri Lum. Thank you so much for all the emotional support and encouragement. I don't know how I would have made it through the past two and half years of graduate school without you. Lastly, I would like to dedicate this work to all my friends, who have made my time here at Mississippi State University the most wonderful experience I could imagine. Thank you all!

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author would like to all my colleagues and undergraduate students that have assisted with my experiments and projects throughout my time in graduate school. In particular, I would like acknowledge Josh Grant, Janice Cunningham, Justin McMahan, Bryn Brazile, and Kai Littlejohn. I would also like to acknowledge Ms. Amanda Lawrence at I<sup>2</sup>AT for all her assistance with SEM processing and imaging. Additionally, I would to acknowledge Dr. James Stewart and Amber Kay in the Department of Biological Science for assistance with western blot analysis. Finally, I would like to acknowledge the National Science Foundation for providing my funding for graduate school through the Graduate Research Fellowship Program.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDIC	CATION	ii
ACKN	OWLEDGEMENTS	iii
LIST (	OF TABLES	vi
LIST (	OF FIGURES	vii
CHAP	TER	
I.	INTRODUCTION	1
	Vascular Calcification	1
	Mechanism of Medial Calcification	3
	PTH EGE-23 and Klotho	/
	Mechanism of Bone/Kidney-Endocrine Axis	10
	Chronic Kidney Disease	
	Vitamin D and Vascular Calcification	
	Specific Aims	19
II.	MATERIALS AND METHODS	20
	Materials	20
	Cell Culture	
	Calcitriol Utilization: Experimental Design	21
	Determination of Calcitriol Concentration	22
	Calcium Deposition Quantification	22
	Effects of Calcitriol Concentration: Experimental Design	23
	In-Depth Examination of Calcitriol Supplementation: Experimental	
	Design	24
	Visualization of Calcium Deposition	25
	Examination of Protein Expression	
	Examination of MMP-2/-9 Expression	27
	Effects of Calcitriol, FGF-23, and Klotho Supplementation:	
	Experimental Design	27
	Statistical Analysis	
III.	RESULTS	29

	Calcitriol Utilization by Calcifying and Non-Calcifying VSMCs	29
	Effects of Calcitriol Concentrations on VSMC Calcification	30
	In-Depth Analysis of Calcitriol Supplementation on VSMC Calcification	33
	Effects of Calcitriol, FGF-23, and Klotho Supplementation on VSMC	
	Calcification	39
IV.	DISCUSSION	41
V.	FUTURE WORKS	46
REFER	ENCES	48
APPEN	DIX	
A.	ADDITIONAL SEM IMAGES	58

# LIST OF TABLES

1.1	Tissues that Express	VDR	.10
-----	----------------------	-----	-----

# LIST OF FIGURES

1.1	Schematic of Artery Structure	2
1.2	Synthesis and Activation of Vitamin D	9
1.3	Bone/Kidney-Endocrine Axis	13
3.1	Change in Calcitriol Concentration of Media from Calcifying and Non-Calcifying VSMCs	29
3.2	Confirmation of Calcification of VSMC with Phosphate Supplementation	30
3.3	Effects of Three Calcitriol Concentrations on Extent of VSMC Calcification in the Absence of Phosphate Supplementation	31
3.4	Effects of Three Calcitriol Concentrations on Extent of VSMC Calcification in the Presence of Phosphate Supplementation	32
3.5	Combined Graph of Effects of Three Calcitriol Concentrations on VSMC Calcification	32
3.6	Effect of 100 nM Calcitriol Supplementation on VSMC Calcification at 7 and 14 Days	33
3.7	SEM Images (1000x Magnification) of Day 7 Samples	35
3.8	SEM Images (1000x Magnification) of Day 14 Samples	36
3.9	Percent Area of Calcium Deposits	37
3.10	Analysis of $\alpha$ SMA, SM-MHC, ALP, and Klotho Protein Expression	38
3.11	Analysis of MMP-2/-9 Expression	38
3.12	Densitometric Analysis of ProMMP-2 Expression	39
3.13	Effect of Calcitriol, FGF-23, and Klotho Supplementation on VSMC Calcification	40

A.1	SEM Images (250x) of Day 7 Samples	59
A.2	SEM Images (5000x) of Day 7 Samples	60
A.3	SEM Images (250x Magnification) of Day 14 Samples	61
A.4	SEM Images (5000x) of Day 14 Samples	62

# CHAPTER I

#### INTRODUCTION

# Vascular Calcification

Vascular calcification is the pathological deposition of calcium-phosphate bone mineral in arteries. Two forms of vascular calcification exist depending on the location of the mineral deposition within the artery: intimal calcification and medial calcification (also known as Mönckeberg's arteriosclerosis).

As seen in Figure 1.1, the intima layer of arteries refers to the inner layer consisting of a layer of endothelial cells that lines the lumen, or inside, of the blood vessel. Intimal calcification occurs with atherosclerosis, which is the thickening of an artery wall caused by endothelial dysfunction followed by the invasion of white blood cells and the migration of smooth muscle cells. These molecular events lead to the accumulation of cells (living and dead), cellular debris, and lipids, together referred to as plaque (1). Plaque can expand such that it partially or completely occludes the lumen, which can eventually lead to problems if the downstream supply of blood becomes insufficient. Often times, the plaque can also rupture, revealing material that can induce a thrombus, or blood clot, formation in the artery. This thrombus can occlude the artery directly or break off forming a down-stream embolism. Occlusions can become life-threatening when they occur in the coronary arteries or arteries in the brain by causing a myocardial infarction (heart attack) or stroke, respectively. Intimal calcification refers to

the calcification of the plaque; however, research has been inconclusive as to the consequences of intimal calcification in atherosclerosis. Autopsies have revealed a relationship between calcification and plaque burden (2). As for rupturing, some studies suggest that the calcification of the plaque causes locations for high local stresses that can increase the chance for rupture (3). On the other hand, heavily calcified plaque is believed to be less likely to develop a thrombus (4), and finite element analysis suggests calcification may serve to stabilize the plaque, similar to the fibrous cap, by lowering the maximum stresses throughout the structure (5).



Figure 1.1 Schematic of Artery Structure

Arteries are composed of three distinct layers: tunica intima (inner), tunica media (middle), and tunica externa (outer). From Wikipedia.org

Also seen in Figure 1.1, the tunica media refers to the middle layer of arteries consisting of vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) and elastic fibers composed of the extracellular matrix protein elastin. In medial calcification, mineral deposition occurs

along these elastic fibers. Medial calcification is often associated with chronic kidney disease (CKD), diabetes, and ageing. While there are not traditional symptoms due to this mineral deposition, calcification of elastic fibers causes increased arterial stiffness (measured by pulse wave velocity), which can result in damage to organs, such as the heart and kidneys. As such, research has shown that medial calcification is correlated with an increased risk of total and cardiovascular mortality in type 2 diabetes patients (6) and CKD patients on hemodialysis (7).

Intimal and medial calcification are not entirely exclusive and can be present simultaneously, especially in CKD patients with atherosclerosis. Also, research has suggested that the pathomechanism between intimal and medial calcification may share many similarities (8). However, they remain distinctly different both morphologically and with respect to clinical implications. For these reasons, this project with be solely focused on medial calcification in CKD patients.

# **Mechanism of Medial Calcification**

Initially, medial calcification was considered a passive process, in which the calcium and phosphate in the serum precipitated out and formed minerals along the extracellular matrix. However, it is now widely accepted to be an active cellular-process similar to bone formation. Many factors are believed to be involved in the initiation of this process, such as inflammatory molecules, certain growth factors, and oxidative stresses; however, for CDK patients, the most important factor is high concentrations of calcium and phosphate. Numerous studies have shown that phosphate and calcium are able to increase calcification in a concentration-dependent and synergistic manner (9-13). Some of the key events that are believed to be required for the initiation of vascular

calcification include: 1) the trans-differentiation of VSMCs into osteoblast-like cells, 2) the release of matrix vesicles and apoptotic bodies, 3) the loss of calcification inhibitors, and 4) the degradation of the extracellular matrix.

The resident VSMCs in the medial layer are able to transdifferentiate into osteoblast-like cells due to their shared mesenchymal stem cell lineage. Observed both in *vitro* and *in vivo*, this phenotypic transition is characterized by the loss of smooth muscle lineage markers, such as smooth muscle  $\alpha$ -actin ( $\alpha$ SMA), smooth muscle myosin heavy chain (SM-MHC) and SM22 $\alpha$ , and the increased expression of bone genes and proteins, such as core binding factor  $\alpha 1$  (Cbfa1/runx2), osteopontin (OPN), osteocalcin (OCN), and alkaline phosphatase (ALP) (13-16). The produced bone proteins, especially ALP, promotes the deposition of the calcium-phosphate mineral. Intracellular phosphate is directly involved in the phenotypic transition, as the addition of phosphate alone is capable of inducing this phenotypic transition in VSMC cultures (13). Calcium is also involved in the phenotypic change, but it is believed to be an indirect action, as the increase in calcification caused by calcium addition does not involve the upregulation of ALP (17). It is worth noting that VSMCs grown on calcified elastin *in vitro* also undergo this phenotypic switch (16); thus, it is possible for calcium's role in the phenotypic switch to be through increasing the mineral deposition through the other main roles, which in turn, further promotes the differentiation towards osteoblast-like cells.

Two different membrane bound bodies, matrix vesicles (MV) and apoptotic bodies (AB), play large roles in the initiation of mineral formation. MVs are small (20-200 nm) extracellular vesicles formed from budding off of the outer plasma membrane of viable cells. They contain large amount of calcium and phosphate, providing a suitable microenvironment for the nucleation of hydroxyapatite formation. This occurs naturally in the calcification of bone, cartilage, and dentin (18), but research has shown that they are also involved in pathological conditions, specifically medial calcification (12, 19-21). TEM images of calcified bovine VSMCs grown in the presence of  $\beta$ -glycerophosphate and ascorbic acid revealed membrane-bound MVs associated with calcification (20). They were also found *in vivo* when observing the calcified aortas of matrix gla protein (MGP) deficient mice, which undergo extensive medial calcification (19). The addition of calcium and/or phosphate to VSMC cultures cause increase MV release (12, 21), presumably in an effort to avoid toxicity caused by high intracellular calcium and phosphate. In addition, while MVs are produced naturally, those produced from the addition of phosphate have an increased ability to calcify, associated with increased ALP activity and increased calcium uptake through annexin expression (22). ABs are larger vesicles formed from the fragmentation of cells undergoing apoptosis. In vitro studies show that high concentrations of phosphate and calcium increase apoptosis (12) and apoptosis increases calcification of human VSMCs (23, 24). The ABs released from apoptosis can also serve as nucleating sites for mineralization similar to MVs (12, 23). For both vesicles, high extracellular phosphate and calcium increases the tendency of these vesicles to mineralize (12).

In non-pathological conditions, natural inhibitors to calcification are present in various tissues, as well as matrix vesicles produced by VSMCs, in order to prevent ectopic calcification despite relatively high serum levels of phosphate and calcium. One such endogenous inhibitor is matrix Gla protein (MGP), a vitamin-K dependent protein expressed in VSMCs. While MGP binds directly to hydroxyapatite (25), the method of

inhibition is not entirely clear (26). Selective knock-down of MGP causes severe medial calcification (19) and low amounts of activated MGP are found in diabetes patients (27). Another inhibitor that is produced by VSMCs is pyrophosphate, which directly inhibits calcification by binding to calcium phosphate, preventing mineral nucleation and further growth. ALP promotes calcification through hydrolyzing pyrophosphate (28). There are also circulating inhibitors that are not directly produced by VSMCs, such as fetuin-A. Produced predominately in the liver (29), it also binds to calcium phosphate, preventing mineral nucleation (30). Expression of these inhibitors are decreased through the phenotypic switch of the VSMCs or through the increased secretion of MVs, allowing the mineralization process to take place.

The role of calcium and phosphate in extracellular matrix degradation (specifically elastin degradation in medial calcification) is not clear; however, research has provided a lot of evidence for involvement of elastin degradation in medial calcification. It was first discovered that matrix metalloproteinase-2 and -9 (MMP-2/-9), the proteins responsible for breaking down elastin, are upregulated in areas of calcification *in vivo* (31-33) and abolishment of this MMP activity prevents the calcification process (34-36). Later, research was able to show that the products of elastin degradation actually accelerate the mineralization process and phenotypic switch of the VSMCs (37). The most recent research has actually shown that the degradation of elastin precedes the deposition of hydroxyapatite mineral and that the mineralization only occurs along the degraded elastin fragments (32). These results, as well as belief that degraded elastin has an increased affinity of calcium (38), have lead researchers to suggest that

extracellular matrix degradation creates sites for the initial nucleation and subsequent growth of the calcium-phosphate mineral in medial calcification.

These events that are involved in medial calcification are tightly connected and are all believed to be affected by high extracellular concentration of calcium and phosphate. Due to this relationship, proper mineral metabolism is important to preventing vascular calcification, and that requires the actions of the molecules vitamin D, parathyroid hormone (PTH), fibroblast growth factor 23 (FGF-23), and klotho.

# Vitamin D

Vitamin D and its metabolites are secosteroid hormones that play a key role in calcium homeostasis as well as other important roles in hormone production, immune system regulation, and differentiation of cells. Although the name implies that it is a vitamin, it is technically considered to be hormone as it is predominately produced in the body and doesn't necessarily have to be obtained through dietary intake if enough is produced endogenously. Secosteroids are similar to steroids in both structure and function. The difference in structure is the broken carbon-carbon bond in the B ring of the typical four-ring structure of steroids. Functionally, they are similar in that they both act on their specific nuclear receptor. Two forms of vitamin D exist: vitamin  $D_{3}$ , or cholecalciferol, and vitamin D<sub>2</sub>, or ergocalciferol. Vitamin D<sub>3</sub> is produced in the human body, specifically in the skin, in response to ultraviolet (UV) radiation. Vitamin  $D_2$  is produced in plants and fungi also in response to UV radiation and can be obtained through dietary intake. The two forms are structurally and functionally different; however, the extent of the functional differences are still highly debated. Research has shown that a single dose of vitamin  $D_2$  produces less of the circulating metabolite than a

single dose of vitamin  $D_3$  (39, 40); however daily doses of vitamin  $D_2$  and  $D_3$  maintain similar levels of the circulating metabolite (41). Due the potential functional differences as well as the fact that the majority of vitamin D is obtained endogenously, this study will be focused primarily on vitamin  $D_3$  and its metabolites.

As alluded to previously, the metabolites of vitamin  $D_3$  are extremely important because vitamin  $D_3$ , as produced by the skin, is inactive and requires multiple subsequent enzymatic reactions to be fully active. The structure of vitamin D<sub>3</sub> and its metabolites as well as the sequence of events leading from synthesis to activation can be seen in Figure 1.2. First, 7-dehydrocholesterol, present in the epidermis, is converted into pre-vitamin  $D_3$  with UV light exposure. Pre-vitamin  $D_3$  will then isomerize into vitamin  $D_3$  in a temperature-dependent reaction (42). In order to prevent vitamin D<sub>3</sub> toxicity from prolonged UV exposure, pre-vitamin  $D_3$  can be converted to tachysterol and biologically inactive lumisterol, which can be reversed when pre-vitamin D<sub>3</sub> levels drop (43). To become active, vitamin  $D_3$  is converted into 25-hydroxyvitamin  $D_3$  [25(OH) $D_3$ ], or calcidiol, through enzymatic reaction by 25-hydroxylase (CYP2R1) in the liver. This reaction is highly dependent on the amount of vitamin D<sub>3</sub> present and is the major form found circulating in the blood, which is why serum levels of 25(OH)D<sub>3</sub> are usually measured to determine if a patient has sufficient amount of vitamin D (44). To become fully active, 25(OH)D<sub>3</sub> must be converted to 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D<sub>3</sub> [1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D<sub>3</sub>], or calcitriol, through enzymatic reaction by  $1\alpha$ -hydroxylase (CYP27B1) in the proximal renal tubule of the kidneys. Other tissues contain the CYP27B1 enzyme; however, they are believed to function to provide local concentration of calcitriol for paracrine or autocrine functions (45). It is also believed that this local production does not affect the

circulating concentration produced from the kidneys. Finally, calcitriol is carried to the target tissue where it exerts effects and deactivated by breaking down it to the water-soluble calcitroic acid by the enzyme 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D<sub>3</sub> 24-hydroxylase (CYP24A1).



Figure 1.2 Synthesis and Activation of Vitamin D

Synthesis of vitamin D3 begins in the skin from UV radiation and goes through subsequent activation in the liver and kidneys. From (46)

Vitamin D, specifically calcitriol, elicits its response similar to traditional steroids, by acting on specific nuclear receptors. The receptor responsible for vitamin D's response is aptly named vitamin D receptor (VDR). The VDR forms a heterodimer that interacts with specific DNA sequences, causing either expression or repression of transcription. As seen in Table 1.1, there are at least 36 tissues that express the VDR. While many of these tissues are involved in calcium homeostasis and bone remodeling

(which will be discussed in more detail in a later section), the other tissues are involved in vitamin D's many nontraditional roles, including hormone production, regulation of immune system, and differentiation of cells. Research has shown that, while the mechanism isn't well understood, calcitriol stimulates insulin secretion (47) and suggests that vitamin D deficiency increases the risk for type 2 diabetes (48). As for the immune system regulation, calcitriol has a complex role, as it has an inhibitory effect on the proliferation of many cells of the adaptive immune system, such as B cell precursors (49) and T helper-1 cells (50), but is actually able to increase expression of the antimicrobial peptide cathelicidin in the innate immune system (51). Finally, calcitriol is involved in the proliferation and differentiation of cells, such as keratinocytes in the epidermis (52), and may have an inhibitory role on certain cancers (53).

Adipose	Eggshell gland	Muscle, embryonic	Prostate
Adrenal glands	Epididymis	Muscle, smooth	Retina
Bone	Hair follicle	Osteoblast	Skin
Bone marrow	Intestine	Ovary	Stomach
Brain	Kidney	Pancreas β cell	Testis
Breast	Liver (fetal)	Parathyroid glands	Thymus
Cancer cells	Lung	Parotid	Thyroid
Cartilage	Lymphocytes (B and T)	Pituitary glands	Uterus
Colon	Muscle, cardiac	Placenta	Yolk sac (bird)
From (54)			

Table 1.1 Tissues that Express VDR

# PTH, FGF-23, and Klotho

Regulation of the serum calcium and phosphorus levels is done through strict cooperation between the bone, kidneys, and parathyroid glands. Besides vitamin D (in the form of calcitriol), there are three other key molecules involved in this process: parathyroid hormone (PTH), fibroblast growth factor 23 (FGF-23), and its coreceptor klotho.

PTH is an 84 amino acid long polypeptide hormone produced and secreted by the parathyroid glands in response to serum calcium (and serum phosphate to a lesser degree). The mature polypeptide is stored in secretory vesicles for release. As a regulatory mechanism, PTH undergoes intracellular degradation also in response to extracellular calcium levels, which is sensed through a G-protein-linked calcium receptor (55). When calcium levels are low (hypocalcemia), PTH secretion increases and intracellular degradation is reduced. When calcium levels are high (hypercalcemia), PTH secretion decreases and intracellular degradation is increased. Once secreted, PTH acts to restore serum calcium levels (a process that will be discussed in more detail in the next section). PTH is quickly cleared ( $T_{1/2} = 4$  minutes) through the kidneys and liver (56).

FGF-23 is a protein produced from osteocytes in bone that respond to serum phosphate levels. FGF-23 belongs to the fibroblast growth factor (FGF) superfamily; however, it differs from the majority of FGF ligands in that it does not contain a heparansulfate (HS) binding domain. HS is found as a proteoglycan bound at cell surfaces and in the extracellular matrix. Because FGF-23 lacks a HS binding domain, it is able to avoid matrix binding and able to move into circulation to exert its endocrine function, instead of the paracrine and/or autocrine functions of traditional FGFs (57). Only two other FGFs lack the HS binding domain, FGF-19 and -21, and together they are referred to as endocrine FGFs. FGFs bind to one of four FGF receptors (FGFR1-FGFR4), which consist of 3 extracellular domains, a single-pass transmembrane domain, and a cytoplasmic tyrosine kinase domain (58). Because HS binding is required for FGF-FGFR binding (59), FGF-23 requires a coreceptor, klotho (60).

Klotho is considered an "anti-aging" protein that is expressed predominately in the distal convoluted tubules in the kidney. It is a type I single-pass transmembrane protein but can also be found in a soluble, secreted form from the proteolytic cleavage, or "shedding", of the transmembrane protein (61). As previously mentioned, the transmembrane klotho acts as a coreceptor for FGF-23 for phosphate regulation. The secreted klotho can be found circulating in the blood, urine, and cerebrospinal fluid (62). While not well understood, its effects are believed to be independent of FGF-23, and may play a role in regulation of calcium and potassium ion channel activity (63, 64). Klotho became known as the "anti-aging" protein because mice with defective klotho gene expression experience phenotypes that resemble accelerated aging, displaying symptoms such as shortened lifespan, infertility, arteriosclerosis, skin atrophy, osteoporosis, and emphysema (65). In addition, overexpression of klotho in mice caused increased life-span compared to wild-type mice (66). The effects of klotho can be explained in part by its role as coreceptor for FGF-23, as FGF-23 knockdown causes a similar phenotypes (67) and excess phosphate itself can causes stresses that may lead to accelerated aging.

# Mechanism of Bone/Kidney-Endocrine Axis

The regulation of calcium and phosphate requires the interaction between the bone, kidneys, and pituitary glands, through the actions of PTH, calcitriol, FGF-23, and klotho. A schematic of this process can be seen in Figure 1.3.



Figure 1.3 Bone/Kidney-Endocrine Axis

Serum calcium and phosphate are regulated by complex interactions between the bone, kidneys, and parathyroid glands. From (68)

When serum calcium is low, the parathyroid glands increases secretion (and decreases intracellular degradation) of PTH. PTH acts to increase calcium production through three separate functions: 1) PTH acts directly on osteoblasts in bone to increase expression of receptor activator of NF- $\kappa$ B ligand (RANKL), causing increased osteoclast activation and subsequent bone resorption and release of calcium and phosphate into the extracellular fluid; 2) PTH acts on the kidneys to increase the reabsorption of calcium by Ca<sup>2+</sup>-ATPase and a Na<sup>+</sup>-Ca<sup>2+</sup>; and 3) PTH acts on the proximal renal tubules in the kidneys to increase CYP27B1 expression, causing increased production of calcitriol (55). Calcitriol acts to increase the active absorption of calcium and phosphate in the intestinal

lumen of the gut. As calcium levels normalize, the parathyroid glands sense the decrease in serum calcium and PTH secretion decreases, ceasing bone resorption. In addition to serum calcium, calcitriol acts directly on the parathyroid glands to decrease PTH secretion (69, 70).

As for phosphate regulation, an increase in serum phosphate (71), along with direct action by calcitriol (72, 73), causes an increase in FGF-23 production from the osteocytes in the bone. FGF-23 with the coreceptor klotho decreases phosphate reabsorption in the proximal tubules by reducing the expression of sodium-phosphate cotransporter type-2a (NaPi-2A) and type 2c (NaPi-2C) (74). In addition, FGF-23 lowers serum calcitriol levels through down regulation of the CYP271B1 gene and upregulation of the CYP24 gene in the kidneys, simultaneously reducing the amount of calcitriol being produced and increasing the hydrolysis of the calcitriol already in circulation (75). FGF-23 further decreases the serum levels of calcitriol by directly acting on the pituitary glands to reduce PTH secretion (76), preventing PTH from creating more active vitamin D. This action prevents the further absorption of phosphate in the intestines and allows for net phosphate wasting.

#### **Chronic Kidney Disease**

CKD is characterized by the gradual loss of kidney function and can be grouped into 5 different states, with stage 4 and 5 known as end stage renal disease (ESRD). As the kidneys stop functioning, the body's method of maintaining proper calcium and phosphate levels also stops functioning.

In advanced CKD patients, when serum calcium levels drop, the calcium receptor in the parathyroid glands respond normally by producing PTH. Also as normal, PTH acts on the osteoblasts in bone to increase RANKL production. However, because of the impaired kidney function, PTH cannot increase activation of 25(OH)D to calcitriol. Because there is insufficient calcitriol, calcium cannot be absorbed in the gut and the body is forced to increase PTH production further to obtain the calcium from bone. As the PTH production continues, patients can develop secondary hyperparathyroidism, which is the excess production of PTH due to low serum calcium and can result in the weakening of bones and possibly calciphylaxis. As for phosphate, the impaired kidney functions causes a decrease in phosphate excretion through urine and results in high serum phosphate (77). Klotho expression is reduced in the proximal tubules (78) and, as such, FGF-23 cannot act to reduce serum phosphate levels. It is believed that as serum phosphate continues to rise, the body responds by increasing FGF-23 secretion. Research has shown that serum FGF-23 levels are found increasing as CKD progresses, although it did not respond to dietary phosphate intake (79). The high FGF-23 levels also contribute to the secondary hyperparathyroidism problem by decreasing the activation and increasing the hydrolysis of calcitriol (75).

Research has shown that CKD patients have a high prevalence of cardiovascular disease and cardiovascular related mortality (80, 81), and medial calcification often occurs in these patients (7). As previously described, extracellular phosphate and calcium play large roles in the mechanism of medial calcification. With the high serum phosphate levels in CKD patients, the high prevalence of medial calcification is understandable. While serum calcium levels are typically low during CKD, treatments options for secondary hyperparathyroidism and hyperphosphatemia, such as calcium supplementation, calcium-containing phosphate binders, and calcitriol treatment, can elevate serum calcium levels (82), also promoting medial calcification and cardiovascular complications. While research has shown that calcitriol treatment increased the survival rate of CKD patients (83), the evidence supporting calcium's role in medial calcification has led researchers to study calcitriol's role in the medial calcification in CKD.

#### Vitamin D and Vascular Calcification

In order to determine if calcitriol treatment promotes VSMC calcification, many *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies have been conducted. However, the results have often been contradictory, and, as such, researchers cannot definitively conclude whether calcitriol treatment increases or decreases medial calcification and whether it acts systemically or locally to produce its effects.

The first study to reveal detrimental effects of calcitriol supplementation on VSMC, published in 1998 by Jono et al., showed that calcitriol treatment on bovine VSMCs *in vitro* concentration dependently increased calcification and ALP activity in the presence of high phosphate in the form of  $\beta$ -glycerophosphate (84). Mizobuchi et al. were later able to show that calcitriol treatment in 5/6 nephrectomized rats resulted in increased serum calcium and phosphate levels, aortic calcification, and runx2 mRNA expression (85). Another study showed that calcitriol supplementation (at dosages of 100 nM and higher) increased calcification *in vitro* rat VSMC grown with  $\beta$ -glycerosphosphate. In addition, they noted that calcitriol treatment caused an increase in RANKL expression, but that the addition of RANKL by itself was not sufficient to increase calcification. They also examined it *in vivo* using 5/6 nephrectomized rats and reached the same conclusions as Mizobuchi et al, except that serum phosphate levels were not upregulated (86). Han et al recently published an article that not only showed

that calcitriol supplementation increased calcification in mouse VSMC cultures in high phosphate conditions, but that it also increased calcification in non-calcifying conditions. *In vivo*, they treated VDR knockout mice with calcitriol and noted no medial calcification occurred (87).

On the other hand, other studies have shown that calcitriol supplementation decreases calcification. In vivo experiments using low density lipid receptor-deficient mice with renal ablation and fed a high-fat diet showed decreased calcification with calcitriol treatment. It must be noted that in this model of CKD, only atherosclerotic plaque and intimal calcification was found (88). In vitro, calcitriol supplementation on human VSMCs in the presence of high phosphate and tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (an inflammatory cytokine shown to accelerate calcification in high phosphate conditions) resulted in decreased calcification at a concentration of 100 nM (no effect with smaller dosages). Calcitriol did not have an effect on calcification causes by high phosphate alone (89). Because the role of inflammation is not well understood in medial calcification but highly important in intimal calcification, this study may also not apply to medial calcification. In 2012, Lau et al contradicted previous *in vivo* studies when they showed that calcitriol treatment actually decreased arterial calcification in 5/6 nephrectomized mice fed a high phosphate diet. They showed this decrease was correlated with an increase in serum klotho (although kidney expression of transmembrane klotho was not increased) (90). These in vivo results tended to agree with the in vitro work by Lim et al who were able to show that calcitriol treatment increased transmembrane klotho expression in cultured human VSMCs and able to decrease calcification only with the addition of FGF-23. FGF-23 and calcitriol by themselves did not affect calcification (91).

Finally, many other studies have revealed mixed results that suggest that calcitriol acts systemically to increase calcification through serum phosphate and/or calcium, but do not directly act on VSMCs to produce the effect. Wu-Wong et al found no significant difference in calcification of human VSMC in vitro between the control and 100 nM calcitriol treatment at four different concentrations of phosphate (0.9, 1.48, 2.06, and 2.64 mM). However, while they did not test calcitriol *in* vivo, treatment of 5/6 nephrectomized rats with an analog of calcitriol (that also didn't increase in vitro calcification) resulted in medial calcification (92). Stubbs et al came across interesting results when they observed FGF-23 null mice with various diets. FGF-23 null mice with a normal diet had accelerated mortality associated with increased calcification, calcitriol, serum calcium, and serum phosphate. Interestingly, low-phosphate dietary restriction in the FGF-23 null mice resulted in no arterial calcification, despite high serum calcitriol, and vitamin Ddeficient diet resulted in increased calcification, despite low serum calcium and calcitriol (serum phosphate was still elevated) (93). Very similar results were found when klotho knockout mice were observed. Klotho knockout mice displayed growth retardation, increased calcification, and increased serum calcium, phosphate, FGF-23, and calcitriol. With genetic inactivation of the sodium-dependent phosphate transporter (in addition to the knockout of klotho), serum phosphate levels were normalized and vascular calcification was abolished, despite the continued high serum calcium and calcitriol (94). Lastly, Lomashvili et al took an interesting route of observing the differences between systemic and local reaction to calcitriol treatment by transplanting both VDR deficient and VDR functioning aortas into mice with renal failure (and functioning VDR expression). Calcitriol treatment did increase aortic calcification; however, there was no

difference between the VDR -/- and VDR +/+ allografts nor was there a significant difference between the allografts and the adjacent aortas (95).

Taken together, these results are highly contradictory. This may be explained, in part, by the lack of consistency in testing calcitriol, such as different species of animals and cells, different concentrations of phosphate, and different dosages of calcitriol. However, more evidence is starting to suggest that calcitriol's effect on VSMC calcification may involve the complex interaction with other molecules, such as FGF-23 and klotho, which may also help explain some of the differences found between the *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies.

#### **Specific Aims**

With previous studies unable to come to conclusive results on the effects of calcitriol supplementation on VSMC calcification, we wanted to examine its effects on our model of *in vitro* calcification. In addition, we wanted to explore some of the possible interaction effects between calcitriol, FGF-23, and soluble klotho. This project can be broken up into 4 aims:

- Examine the utilization of calcitriol in media of calcifying and noncalcifying VSMCs
- Examine the concentration-dependent effect of calcitriol supplementation on degree of calcification in calcifying and non-calcifying VSMCs
- Examine the effect of 100 nM calcitriol supplementation on calcifying and non-calcifying VSMCs (protein expression and morphological changes)
- Examine the potential interaction effects of calcitriol, FGF-23, and soluble klotho on VSMC calcification

# CHAPTER II

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

### Materials

Calcitriol (catalog no. 2551) was obtained from Tocris Biosciences (Bristol, United Kingdom). Recombinant human klotho (catolog no. 5334-KL-025) and recombinant human FGF-23 (catolog no. 2604-FG) were obtained from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MN).

For western blot analysis, anti-ALP rabbit monoclonal antibodies (catalog no. Ab108337), anti-αSMA mouse monoclonal antibodies (catalog no. Ab7817), anti-SM-MHC mouse monoclonal antibodies (catalog no. Ab683), and anti-klotho rabbit monoclonal antibodies (catalog no. Ab181373) were obtained from Abcam (Cambridge, MA). Anti-ERK 1 (catalog no. SC93) and anti-ERK 2 (catalog no. SC154) rabbit polyclonal antibodies were obtained from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Dallas, TX).

For gelatin zymography, 10% Ready Gel Zymogram gel (catalog no. 1611167), 10x Zymogram Renaturing buffer (catalog no. 1610765), 10x Zymogram Development buffer (catalog no. 1610766), Zymogram Sample buffer (catalog no. 1610764), Precision Plus Protein Standards (catalog no. 1610373), and 10x Tris/Glycine/SDS buffer (catalog no. 1610772) were all obtained from Bio-Rad (Hercules, CA).

All other materials were obtained from either Fisher Scientific (Waltham, MA) or Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO).

#### **Cell Culture**

Human primary aortic VSMCs were purchased from ATCC (catalog no. PCS-100-012; Manassas, VA). Cells were grown and maintained using standard growth media, Dulbecco's Modified Eagles Medium (DMEM) with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 1% penicillin/streptomycin. Cells were incubated at 37°C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, and media was changed every 2-3 days.

For experiments, to prepare the calcification media, 3 mM inorganic phosphate in the form of dibasic sodium phosphate was added to the cell culture media. For experiments involving the addition of calcitriol, 10% charcoal-stripped FBS was used in place of regular FBS due to FBS containing vitamin D metabolites. Cells were at passage 8 for all experiments.

#### **Calcitriol Utilization: Experimental Design**

HVSMCs were seeded in six-well plates and allowed to grow to 80% confluency. Cells were dived into two groups: one group received standard growth media (Cont); the other group received calcification media (Calc).

Once reaching ~80% confluency (Day 0), the cells were given their appropriate media and allowed to grow for 7 or 14 days, with the media being changed every 2-3 days. On day 4 and day 11, for the 7 and 14 day samples respectively, media samples were taken prior to administration on the cells and stored in the -80° C. On day 7 and day 14, media samples were taken from each sample prior to removal and subsequent quantification of calcium deposition. The media samples before and after administration to the cells were examined for calcitriol concentration.

#### **Determination of Calcitriol Concentration**

The change in calcitriol concentration was determined by measuring the calcitriol concentration in the media before and after administration using a calcitriol competitiveenzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kit, purchased from Elabscience (catalog no. E-EL-0016; WuHan, P.R.C), following manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, the wells in the microtiter plate were precoated with calcitriol. Sample was added to each well and "competed" with precoated calcitriol for the biotinylated detection antibodies that were added to each well. After the reaction, each well was washed to remove excess conjugate and the unbound calcitriol from the samples. Next, avidin, horseradish peroxidase conjugate was added to each well and incubated. Then, a tetramethylbenzidine substrate was added to each well. This enzyme-substrate reaction was terminated with the addition of sulphuric acid and the resulting color change was measured spectrophotometrically at 450 nm, using a µQuant microplate spectrophotometer (Bio-Tek Instruments; Winooski, VT).

# **Calcium Deposition Quantification**

Media was removed from the cell cultures, and each well was rinse gently with 1x phosphate buffered saline (PBS) three times in order to remove any residual media and its associated calcium. Next, the cell layer was decalcified by using 5 mL of 0.6 N HCl for 24 hours. HCl supernatants were collected and prepared for atomic absorption (AA) by adding 1 mL of 20,000  $\mu$ g/mL potassium chloride and 1 mL of 0.1 N nitric acid. The cell layers were then solubilized using 1 mL of 0.1 N NaOH/0.1% sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) solution. Six-well plates were observed using a light microscope to ensure complete solubilization before collection and storage in the -80° C freezer.

Calcium concentration of HCl supernatant was determined with AA. It was conducted using a Shimadzu AA-7000F (Shimadzu Corp; Kyoto, Japan) and Calcium Atomax Hollow Cathode Lamp (catalog no. N2025208; PerkinElmer; Waltham, MA) using a wavelength of 422.7 nM. Standards containing known calcium values were prepared using calcium reference standard solution purchased from Fisher Scientific (catalog SC191-500; Waltham, MA).

Calcium content was normalized to intracellular protein content. Protein concentration of the NaOH/SDS solution was determined using the Pierce bicinchoninic acid (BCA) assay (catalog #: 23225; Thermo Scientific; Waltham, MA) following manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, standards containing known protein values were prepared using a stock solution of bovine serum albumin. Standards and samples were then placed in a non-treated 96-well microplate. An alkaline solution containing BCA and copper (II) sulfate was added to each well and allowed to incubate at 37°C for 30 minutes. The resulting color change was measure spectrophotometrically at 562 nm. Protein concentration of the samples were determined by comparing the absorbance of the samples to the absorbance of the protein standards.

#### **Effects of Calcitriol Concentration: Experimental Design**

HVSMCs were seeded in six-well plates and allowed to grow to 80% confluency, using standard growth media. Cells were divided into 8 groups (n=6):

- Standard growth media with 1% ethanol, (Vehicle Cont)
- Standard growth media with 10 nM calctriol (10 nM Cont)
- Standard growth media with 100 nM calcitriol (100 nM Cont)
- Standard growth media with 1000 nM calctriol (1000 nM Cont)

- Calcification media with 1% ethanol (Vehicle Calc)
- Calcification media with 10 nM calcitriol (10 nM Calc)
- Calcification media with 100 nM calcitriol (100 nM Calc)
- Calcification media with 1000 nM calcitriol (1000 nM Calc)

All media was made with 10% charcoal-stripped FBS. Calcitriol was reconstituted in 100% ethanol and added to the media, such that the final concentration of ethanol in the media was 1%.

Once reaching ~80% confluency (day 0), cells were given their appropriate media and allowed to grow for 14 days, with the media being changed every 2-3 days. After 14 days, cells were decalcified and the degree of calcium deposition was quantified as previously mentioned.

# In-Depth Examination of Calcitriol Supplementation: Experimental Design

Due to results from previous experiment, supplementation of 100 nM calcitriol was chosen for further in-depth examination. HVSMCs were seeded in six-well plates and allowed to grow to 80% confluency, using standard growth media. Cells were divided into 4 groups:

- Standard growth media with vehicle (Cont)
- Standard growth media with 100 nM calcitriol (100 nM Cont)
- Calcification media with vehicle (Calc)
- Calcification media with 100 nM calcitriol (100 nM Calc)

All media was made with 10% charcoal stripped FBS. Calcitriol was reconstituted in DMEM with 1.25% ethanol and added to the media, such that the final concentration of ethanol in the media was 0.005%.
Once reaching ~80% confluency (day 0), cells were given their appropriate media and allowed to grow for 7 or 14 days, with the media being changed every 2-3 days. Separate samples were prepared for AA (n=6), scanning electron microscopy (n=3), and western blot analysis (n=3). Media was collected from AA samples prior to decalcification for analysis of MMP-2/-9 expression using gelatin zymography.

#### **Visualization of Calcium Deposition**

Visualization of the calcium deposition was done using scanning electron microscopy (SEM). Prior to seeding cells in the six well plates, Thermanox plastic coverslips were placed in the wells with the treated side face-up. After receiving the appropriate media for 7 or 14 days, media was removed and cells were fixed in 1/2 Karnovsky's fixative in 0.1 M sodium cacodylate buffer for up to two weeks. The samples were processed for SEM imaging by further fixation using 0.4% osmium tetroxide followed by serial dehydration, using increasing concentrations of ethanol and hexamethyldisilazane (HMDS). Next, samples were allowed to air dry overnight and mounted on stubs using double-sided tape. Lastly, mounted samples were sputtered coated with 15 nm of platinum using an EMS 1150T ES sputter coater.

Samples were imaged using a Carl Zeiss EVO50VP Variable Pressure Scanning Electron Microscope. Working distance of 10 mm and excitation voltage of 10 kV was used.

For quantification of the calcified area, three images (1000x or lower magnification) were randomly selected from each group. Percent area of the calcium deposits in relation to the total area of the image was done using ImageJ software.

Because edges of cells appeared bright in SEM images, they were manually removed from the analysis.

#### **Examination of Protein Expression**

Protein was obtained by placing cells in lysis buffer (10 mM Hepes, 150 mM NaCl, 1.5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 1 mM EDTA, 10 mM Na-pyrophosphate, 10 mM NaF, 0.1 mM Na-orthovanadate, 1% Na deoxycholate, 1% Triton x 100, and 0.1% SDS), scraped, sonicated on ice for 5 seconds, and centrifuged at 15000 RPM to remove large cellular debris. Protein concentration was determined using BCA assay and diluted such that 30 µg of protein was loaded in each well. Samples were loaded into the wells of 10% or 8% SDS-Page gel and ran at a constant voltage (120 V) for approximately 2 hours or until tracking blue dye reached the bottom. Once finished, gels were transferred to PDVF membrane overnight.

Membranes were blocked with 5% non-fat dry milk in 1x TTBS w/ Tween-20 buffer for one hour at room temperature. Primary antibodies were added to 5% milk in 1x TTBS w/ Tween-20 buffer, solution was placed on membranes, and membranes were allowed to shake overnight at 4° C. Membranes were rinsed with 1x TTBS w/ Tween-20 buffer. Secondary antibodies were added to 1% milk with 1x TTBS w/ Tween-20 buffer and placed on membranes for 1-2 hours at room temperature. Enhanced chemilumniescence (ECL) solution was added to each membrane and allowed to incubate 5 minutes at room temperature. Membranes were developed on film.

26

#### **Examination of MMP-2/-9 Expression**

Media samples taken prior to decalcification for AA analysis were diluted in order to normalize to intracellular protein content. One part media was added to two parts Zymogram Sample Buffer, and 30 µl of the combined solution was added to each well. Gels were run at constant voltage (125 V) for 90 minutes or until the bromephenol blue tracking dye reached the bottom of the gel. Once completed, gels were removed from the casing and incubated in 1x Zymogram Renaturing buffer for 1 hour with gentle agitation. Gels were then incubated in 1x Zymogram Development buffer for an hour with gentle agitation, replaced with fresh development buffer, and allowed to incubate over night at 37° C. The following day, gels were stained with 0.25% (w/v) Coomassie blue stain (made in 40% methanol, 10% acetic acid, and 50% distilled water) for one hour. Finally, the gels were destained twice, using a solution of 40% methanol, 10% acetic acid, and 50% distilled water and gentle agitation for one hour.

MMP expression was viewed as clear bands on a dark, stained background. Densitometric analysis of the band intensity was done using ImageJ software. Band intensities were normalized to the band for the 7 day control group.

#### Effects of Calcitriol, FGF-23, and Klotho Supplementation: Experimental Design

HVSMCs were seeded in six-well plates and allowed to grow to 80% confluency, using standard growth media. Samples were divided into 8 groups:

- Standard growth media with vehicle (Cont)
- Calcification media with vehicle (Calc)
- Calcification media with 100 nM calcitriol (Vit D)
- Calcification media with 0.4 nM soluble klotho (Klotho)

- Calcification media with 10 ng/mL FGF-23 (FGF)
- Calcification media with 100 nM calcitriol and 10 ng/mL FGF-23 (Vit D + FGF)
- Calcification media with 100 nM calcitriol and 0.4 nM soluble klotho (Vit D + Klotho),
- Calcification media with 10 ng/mL FGF-23 and 0.4 nM soluble klotho (FGF + Klotho)
- Calcification media with 100 nM calcitriol, 10 ng/mL FGF-23, and 0.4 nM soluble klotho (All)

All media was made with 10% charcoal stripped FBS. Calcitriol was reconstitute in DMEM with 1.25% ethanol. Klotho was provided in a solution containing 20 mM 2-(N-morpholino)ethanesulfonic acid (MES), 0.1 mM ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA), and 50% (v/v) glycerol and was diluted using DMEM. FGF-23 was reconstitute per manufacturer's instructions using 1 x PBS with 0.1% BSA and diluted in DMEM. The final concentration of the vehicle in each media was 0.005% (v/v) ethanol, 2.7 nM MES, 135 pM EDTA, 0.000007% (v/v) glycerol, 0.005 % (v/v) PBS, and 0.00005% (w/v) BSA.

Once reaching ~80% confluency (day 0), cells were given their appropriate media and allowed to grow for 14 days, with the media being changed every 2-3 days. After 14 days, cells were decalcified and the degree of calcium deposition was quantified as previously mentioned

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Error bars on graphs represent standard deviation. When comparing two groups, student t-test was used ( $\alpha$ = 0.05). When comparing multiple groups, one way ANOVA with Fisher's Least Significant Difference (LSD) post-hoc analysis was used ( $\alpha$ = 0.05).

#### CHAPTER III

### RESULTS

## Calcitriol Utilization by Calcifying and Non-Calcifying VSMCs

Calcitriol concentration of the cell culture media was measure before and after administration to both control and calcification groups of VSMCs. As seen in Figure 3.1, the calcitriol concentration of the media from both groups increased after administration to the cells at both 7 and 14 days. However, the extent of increase was not significantly different between the two groups at either time point.



Figure 3.1 Change in Calcitriol Concentration of Media from Calcifying and Non-Calcifying VSMCs

There was no significant difference between the increase of calcitriol concentration of the two groups at either 7 or 14 days

Calcification of the VSMCs receiving the 3 mM inorganic phosphate was verified through AA. As seen in Figure 3.2, the VSMCs receiving the phosphate supplementation had a significant increase in calcium content compared to the control group at both 7 and 14 days.



Figure 3.2Confirmation of Calcification of VSMC with Phosphate Supplementation\* P < 0.05 compared to the control group at the same time point

## **Effects of Calcitriol Concentrations on VSMC Calcification**

To examine any concentration dependent effect of calcitriol, three concentrations of calcitriol (10, 100, and 1000 nM) were added to VSMCs with and without the supplementation of 3 mM inorganic phosphate. As seen in Figure 3.3, only 1000 nM calcitriol was able to cause a significant increase in calcium content in VSMCs in noncalcifying conditions. In calcifying conditions, seen in Figure 3.4, supplementation of 100 nM and 1000 nM calcitriol caused a significant increase in calcium content compared to the vehicle. There was no significant difference between the 100 and 1000 nM groups. It is worth noting that while 1000 nM calcitriol supplementation was able to increase calcification in the control group, the calcium content value of 1000 nM control group was still approximately 10 times lower than the vehicle calcification group. Comparisons of the control and calcification groups can be seen in Figure 3.5.



Figure 3.3 Effects of Three Calcitriol Concentrations on Extent of VSMC Calcification in the Absence of Phosphate Supplementation

\* P < 0.05 compared to vehicle



Figure 3.4 Effects of Three Calcitriol Concentrations on Extent of VSMC Calcification in the Presence of Phosphate Supplementation

\* P < 0.05 compared to vehicle



Figure 3.5 Combined Graph of Effects of Three Calcitriol Concentrations on VSMC Calcification

#### In-Depth Analysis of Calcitriol Supplementation on VSMC Calcification

To further analyze the effects of calcitriol supplementation on VSMC calcification, one concentration of calcitriol was chosen (100 nM). The increase in calcification of VSMCs observed in the previous experiment was confirmed using AA and observed qualitatively using SEM. Protein expression was examined using western blot analysis (for  $\alpha$ SMA, ALP, and Klotho) and gelatin zymography (for MMP-2 and -9).

The calcium content of VSMCs can be seen in Figure 3.6. Surprisingly, at 7 days, the supplementation of 100 nM caused a significant increase in calcification in non-calcifying conditions, while there was no effect in the calcification groups. On the contrary, at 14 days, we observed a significant increase in calcium content with the addition of calcitriol in the calcification groups but not the control groups.



Figure 3.6 Effect of 100 nM Calcitriol Supplementation on VSMC Calcification at 7 and 14 Days

\* P < 0.05 compared to the vehicle for the same treatment and time point

We imaged the effects of calcitriol supplementation on VSMC calcification through SEM imaging. SEM images (at 1000x magnification) after 7 and 14 days can be seen in Figure 3.7 and Figure 3.8, respectively. SEM images at other magnifications can be seen in Figures A.1, A.2, A.3, and A.4. Comparing the images at day 7, there appears to be more small nodules in the calcification groups compared to the control groups. Although the AA data showed that there was increase in calcification between the 7 day control and 7 day 100 nM control groups, there does not appear to be any distinct morphological differences in the images of these groups. The 14 day images are similar to the 7 day images in that the calcification groups appear to have more nodule formations than the control groups. Also, while AA data showed an increase in calcification with the supplementation of 100 nM calcitriol in the 14 day calcification group, there did not appear to be any distinct morphological differences between the two groups. Quantification of the calcified area, as seen in Figure 3.9, did not show any significant differences in the percent area of calcification with the supplementation of 100 nM calcitriol in neither the control nor calcification groups.



Figure 3.7 SEM Images (1000x Magnification) of Day 7 Samples

SEM images of (A) control, (B) calcification, (C) 100 nM control, and (D) 100 nM calcification after 7 days.



Figure 3.8 SEM Images (1000x Magnification) of Day 14 Samples

SEM images of (A) control, (B) calcification, (C) 100 nM control, and (D) 100 nM calcification after 14 days



Figure 3.9 Percent Area of Calcium Deposits



The protein expression of  $\alpha$ SMA, SM-MHC, ALP, and klotho were examined using western blot analysis. The relative protein expression can be found in Figure 3.10. At 7 and 14 days, there was a decrease in  $\alpha$ SMA between the control and calcification groups. However, there did not appear to be any effect in  $\alpha$ SMA expression caused by the addition of 100 nM in either the control and calcification groups. SM-MHC expression followed a similar trend as  $\alpha$ SMA but to a lesser degree. There also did not appear to be any difference ALP expression between the control and calcification groups at 7 or 14 days, and there also did not appear to be any effects from the supplementation of calcitriol. Lastly, there did not appear to be any change to the total klotho expression between any of the groups. Total ERK was used as a loading control. Densitometric analysis could not be done for these proteins because the three replicates were combined to ensure that there was enough protein to load on the gels.



Figure 3.10 Analysis of aSMA, SM-MHC, ALP, and Klotho Protein Expression

The relative expression of MMP-2 and -9 was examined using gelatin zymography and can be seen in Figure 3.11. The presence of what is believed to be proMMP-2 can clearly be seen in all groups at both 7 and 14 days. A much smaller band for proMMP-9 can faintly be seen. According to densitometric analysis, as seen in figure 3.11, there was no difference proMMP-2 expression between the calcification and control groups nor between the vehicle and 100 nM calcitriol groups.



Figure 3.11 Analysis of MMP-2/-9 Expression



Figure 3.12 Densitometric Analysis of ProMMP-2 Expression There was no significant difference in proMMP-2 expression between any of the groups

#### Effects of Calcitriol, FGF-23, and Klotho Supplementation on VSMC Calcification

In order to observe the effects from the interaction of calcitriol, FGF-23, and klotho, various combinations of these molecules were added to VSMCs in calcifying conditions and examined for calcium content using AA. As seen in Figure 3.13, there is a significant decrease in calcium content from the addition of FGF-23 with calcitriol. This combination actually reduced the calcium content to the same level as VSMCs without calcification media. Surprisingly, the only combination to increase calcification was the combination of calcitriol, FGF-23, and klotho, which was significantly higher than all other groups.



Figure 3.13 Effect of Calcitriol, FGF-23, and Klotho Supplementation on VSMC Calcification

\* P < 0.05 compared to all groups; # P < 0.05 compared to calcification group

# CHAPTER IV

## DISCUSSION

In the first experiment, we wanted to determine if there was any difference in the utilization of calcitriol between VSMCs that received 3 mM inorganic phosphate and VSMCs that did not receive any inorganic phosphate. We saw an increase in calcitriol concentration in the cell culture media from before administration to after 3 days of administration on the VSMCs in both groups. Calcitriol is found in serum, but it is only present in very small amounts ( $\sim 1000x$  less) compared to the metabolite 25(OH)D (54). While the majority of calcitriol activation occurs in the kidneys, various tissues can express the CYP27B1 enzyme, including VSMCs (96). Thus, this increase in both groups was expected. While the calcification of VSMCs is believed to involve the transition to an osteoblast-like phenotype, osteoblasts are also capable of expressing the CYP27B1 enzyme (97); thus, it is not entirely surprising that there was not a difference in the degree of increase in calcitriol concentration between the calcifying and non-calcifying VSMCs. We conducted AA to ensure that our VSMCs were increasing their mineral deposition in response to the 3 mM inorganic phosphate. Our calcifying VSMCs showed increased calcification, consistent with previous studies (9, 11-13).

When looking at the concentration-dependent effects of calcitriol on VSMC calcification, we saw that 100 nM and 1000 nM calcitriol supplementation was able to increase the calcification in the presence of high phosphate and only 1000 nM calcitriol

supplementation was able to increase the calcification without the presence of high phosphate. These results generally agree with many previously published *in vitro* studies (84, 86, 87). Jono et al were able to show that concentrations as low as 10 nM calcitriol was able to increase calcification in the presence of high phosphate; however in this study, they did not use charcoal stripped FBS (84), which may be the reason our 10 nM group did not show a significant increase in calcium content. To the best of our knowledge, we are the first group to examine concentrations as high as 1000 nM calcitriol. Cardus et al examined 300 nM calcitriol and showed there was no difference in calcium content compared to the 100 nM group (86), similar to our 100 and 1000 nM groups.

When we further examined the effects of 100 nM calcitriol supplementation on the VSMCs, we first verified our findings from the previous experiment. Interestingly, at 7 days, 100 nM calcitriol supplementation did not increase calcification in the presence of high phosphate but did in the absence of high phosphate. After 14 days, the results were the same as the experiment using the three calcitriol concentrations, in that 100 nM calcitriol supplementation increased calcification in the presence of high phosphate but did not in the absence of high phosphate after 14 days. No one has previously noted a time dependent effect of calcitriol on VSMC calcification; however, it is worth noting that calcitriol's effects on osteoblast differentiation is highly dependent on the stage of maturation of the cell (97). In fact, recent research has shown that calcitriol accelerates matrix vesicle formation in osteoblasts but only during the early phase of differentiation (98). Thus, it is possible that calcitriol has a similar time-dependent effect on VSMCs. Still, it is surprising that only the control showed increased calcification at day 7 and not both groups.

Looking at the SEM images, there appears to mineral formation in the calcification groups. Nodule formations appear in large number in the calcification groups but not the control groups, suggesting that these are the mineral deposits. Comparing the vehicle groups to the 100 nM calcitriol groups, there do not appear to be any distinct morphological differences to suggest a cause for the increase in calcification caused by the calcitriol supplementation. To the best of our knowledge, we are the first group to observe calcifying VSMCs using SEM. Schembri et al observed calcification of a carotid artery section that had atherosclerotic plaque (99), but these morphologies are very different.

Looking at the protein expression, we saw a loss of  $\alpha$ SMA and SM-MHC expression in the calcification groups compared to the control groups at 7 and 14 day. This is consistent with previous studies that show that VSMCs undergo transition to an osteoblast-like phenotype with the addition of high phosphate (13). On the other hand, there did not appear to be a difference in  $\alpha$ SMA and SM-MHC expression between the vehicle and 100 nM calcitriol groups at either 7 or 14 days. Han et al showed an increase in runx2 expression after the supplementation of 100 nM calcitriol (87). While we were unable to detect runx2 expression in our cells (data not shown), upregulation of runx2 is typically coupled with the loss of smooth muscle markers, so it is surprising that we did not see a difference in  $\alpha$ SMA or SM-MHC. In our study, we saw that total klotho expression was unaffected by both calcitriol and phosphate supplementation. Lim et al actually showed an increase in transmembrane klotho with calcitriol supplementation,

43

which allowed the combination of calcitriol and FGF-23 to decrease VSMC calcification (91). We did not detect any transmembrane klotho expression, but because we also saw a similar decrease in calcification with the combination of calcitriol and FGF-23, it is possible that our sample preparation prevented us from detecting the transmembrane form and only total klotho. The last protein expression we examined was for MMP-2 and -9. As mentioned earlier, the degradation of elastin plays a large role in the pathology of medial calcification. Rahman et al examined the MMP expression of heart tissue from VDR knockout and wild type mice. They showed that MMP activity and expression was higher in the knockout mice than wild type mice (100). Looking at our gelatin zymography results, we see a large band in each group, which we believe to be proMMP-2. We can also see a faint band for what appears to be proMMP-9 in each group. These are the inactive forms of MMP-2 and -9, respectively, and the expression of these proteins do not appear to be effected by the addition of calcitriol or phosphate. MMP-2 and -9 activity is upregulated with medial calcification; however, it has only been shown in vivo (31-33) and in vitro when elastin peptides were added to the VSMCs (37). It is possible that increased MMP-2 and -9 expression and activity requires the interaction with elastin in the extracellular matrix and not just high extracellular phosphate. For this reason, we cannot conclude that calcitriol does not have an effect on MMP expression.

Lastly, we examined the effects of combinations of 100 nM calcitriol, 10 ng/mL FGF-23, and 0.4 nM soluble klotho. As mentioned earlier, we saw a significant decrease in calcification with the combination of calcitriol and FGF-23, agreeing with the findings of Lim et al. They were able to show that this decrease is due to the increased expression of transmembrane klotho, as klotho siRNA was able to abolish this decrease in their

study (91). It is believed that the increased expression of transmembrane klotho allows FGF-23 to react with its receptor and exert a beneficial effect. Hu et al showed that the addition of 0.4 nM soluble klotho by itself decreased VSMC calcification in vitro (101). In our study, 0.4 nM soluble klotho by itself appeared to cause a small decrease in calcification; however, statistical analysis concluded that it was not significant. In their experiment, they only added 2 mM inorganic phosphate to the VSMCs, so it is possible that 0.4 nM was too low of a concentration to elicit a similar, beneficial effect on the VSMC calcification caused by 3 mM inorganic phosphate in our study. The most surprising result was that the addition of all three, calcitriol, FGF-23, and soluble klotho, caused an extreme increase in VSMC calcification. This is the first time this combination has been added to VSMCs in the presence of high phosphate *in vitro*. Research has shown that soluble klotho can still act as a coreceptor for FGF-23 signaling (102), although it is believed to not be as active as the membrane form. Because the FGF-23 + calcitriol group and the FGF-23 + klotho group do not experience an increase in calcification, it may be possible that the combination of calcitriol, FGF-23, and klotho causes an overexpression of klotho and allows for excess FGF-23 activity. Supporting this idea, Jimbo et al found that FGF-23 causes concentration-dependent increase of calcification in klotho-overexpressing VSMCs in the presence of high phosphate (103).

## CHAPTER V FUTURE WORKS

The initial motivation for this project was to examine the feasibility of a sitespecific treatment of calcitriol to reduce vascular calcification. While there are treatments for the plaque buildup associated with atherosclerosis and intimal calcification, such as balloon angioplasty and stents, there are not any clinically available treatment for medial calcification.

While our study, combined with previously published studies, do not particularly support a calcitriol treatment for vascular calcification, they also do not rule out the possibility for it. Future studies should be aimed at further examining the interaction between calcitriol, FGF-23, and klotho in calcifying conditions. The mechanisms behind the decrease or increase needs to be elucidated in order to ensure the safety of calcitriol supplementation. In addition, because treatments are often started after symptoms appear, the possibility of the combination of calcitriol and FGF-23 to reverse pre-existing calcification needs to be examined.

If the research still supports the creation of a site specific treatment using calcitriol, the delivery vehicle needs to be created. In particular, this could be done utilizing nanoparticles, due to their ability to be functionalized with various molecules, ability to avoid clearance by the immune system, and ability to reach the medial layer of arteries. The nanoparticles would need to be functionalized with a targeting agent in order

to deliver calcitriol locally and avoid the increase in serum calcium and phosphate caused by systemic administration. In particular, modification with an antibody specific for elastin has shown promise in targeting the sites of vascular calcification specifically by binding to the degraded elastin that is thought to be the sites of initial mineral nucleation (104). These nanoparticles would need to be examined for their ability to load calcitriol, release calcitriol, and accumulate in the sites of vascular calcification.

## REFERENCES

1. Ross R. Atherosclerosis — An Inflammatory Disease. New England Journal of Medicine. 1999;340(2):115-26.

2. Sangiorgi G, Rumberger JA, Severson A, Edwards WD, Gregoire J, Fitzpatrick LA, et al. Arterial Calcification and Not Lumen Stenosis Is Highly Correlated With Atherosclerotic Plaque Burden in Humans: A Histologic Study of 723 Coronary Artery Segments Using Nondecalcifying Methodology. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 1998;31(1):126-33.

3. Hoshino T, Chow LA, Hsu JJ, Perlowski AA, Abedin M, Tobis J, et al. Mechanical stress analysis of a rigid inclusion in distensible material: a model of atherosclerotic calcification and plaque vulnerability. American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology. 2009;297(2):H802-10.

4. Beckman JA, Ganz J, Creager MA, Ganz P, Kinlay S. Relationship of clinical presentation and calcification of culprit coronary artery stenoses. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2001;21(10):1618-22.

5. Huang H, Virmani R, Younis H, Burke AP, Kamm RD, Lee RT. The Impact of Calcification on the Biomechanical Stability of Atherosclerotic Plaques. Circulation. 2001;103(8):1051-6.

6. Lehto S, Niskanen L, Suhonen M, Ronnemaa T, Laakso M. Medial artery calcification. A neglected harbinger of cardiovascular complications in non-insulindependent diabetes mellitus. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1996;16(8):978-83.

7. London GM, Guérin AP, Marchais SJ, Métivier F, Pannier B, Adda H. Arterial media calcification in end-stage renal disease: impact on all-cause and cardiovascular mortality. Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation. 2003;18(9):1731-40.

8. Amann K. Media Calcification and Intima Calcification Are Distinct Entities in Chronic Kidney Disease. Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology. 2008;3(6):1599-605.

9. Jono S, McKee MD, Murry CE, Shioi A, Nishizawa Y, Mori K, et al. Phosphate Regulation of Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Calcification. Circulation Research. 2000;87(7):e10-e7.

10. Yang H, Curinga G, Giachelli CM. Elevated extracellular calcium levels induce smooth muscle cell matrix mineralization in vitro1. Kidney Int. 2004;66(6):2293-9.

11. Shioi A, Nishizawa Y, Jono S, Koyama H, Hosoi M, Morii H. β-Glycerophosphate Accelerates Calcification in Cultured Bovine Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology. 1995;15(11):2003-9.

12. Reynolds JL, Joannides AJ, Skepper JN, McNair R, Schurgers LJ, Proudfoot D, et al. Human Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells Undergo Vesicle-Mediated Calcification in Response to Changes in Extracellular Calcium and Phosphate Concentrations: A Potential Mechanism for Accelerated Vascular Calcification in ESRD. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology. 2004;15(11):2857-67.

13. Steitz SA, Speer MY, Curinga G, Yang HY, Haynes P, Aebersold R, et al. Smooth muscle cell phenotypic transition associated with calcification: upregulation of Cbfa1 and downregulation of smooth muscle lineage markers. Circ Res. 2001;89(12):1147-54.

14. Moe SM, Duan D, Doehle BP, O'Neill KD, Chen NX. Uremia induces the osteoblast differentiation factor Cbfa1 in human blood vessels. Kidney Int. 2003;63(3):1003-11.

15. Moe SM, O'Neill KD, Duan D, Ahmed S, Chen NX, Leapman SB, et al. Medial artery calcification in ESRD patients is associated with deposition of bone matrix proteins. Kidney Int. 2002;61(2):638-47.

16. Lei Y, Sinha A, Nosoudi N, Grover A, Vyavahare N. Hydroxyapatite and calcified elastin induce osteoblast-like differentiation in rat aortic smooth muscle cells. Experimental cell research. 2014;323(1):198-208.

17. Shroff RC, McNair R, Skepper JN, Figg N, Schurgers LJ, Deanfield J, et al. Chronic Mineral Dysregulation Promotes Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Adaptation and Extracellular Matrix Calcification. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology. 2010;21(1):103-12.

18. Golub EE. Role of matrix vesicles in biomineralization. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - General Subjects. 2009;1790(12):1592-8.

19. Luo G, Ducy P, McKee MD, Pinero GJ, Loyer E, Behringer RR, et al. Spontaneous calcification of arteries and cartilage in mice lacking matrix GLA protein. Nature. 1997;386(6620):78-81.

20. Wada T, McKee MD, Steitz S, Giachelli CM. Calcification of Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Cultures: Inhibition by Osteopontin. Circulation Research. 1999;84(2):166-78.

21. Dai X-Y, Zhao M-M, Cai Y, Guan Q-C, Zhao Y, Guan Y, et al. Phosphateinduced autophagy counteracts vascular calcification by reducing matrix vesicle release. Kidney Int. 2013;83(6):1042-51.

22. Chen NX, O'Neill KD, Chen X, Moe SM. Annexin-Mediated Matrix Vesicle Calcification in Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research. 2008;23(11):1798-805.

23. Proudfoot D, Skepper JN, Hegyi L, Bennett MR, Shanahan CM, Weissberg PL. Apoptosis regulates human vascular calcification in vitro: evidence for initiation of vascular calcification by apoptotic bodies. Circ Res. 2000;87(11):1055-62.

24. Son B-K, Kozaki K, Iijima K, Eto M, Kojima T, Ota H, et al. Statins Protect Human Aortic Smooth Muscle Cells From Inorganic Phosphate-Induced Calcification by Restoring Gas6-Axl Survival Pathway. Circulation Research. 2006;98(8):1024-31.

25. Roy ME, Nishimoto SK. Matrix Gla protein binding to hydroxyapatite is dependent on the ionic environment: calcium enhances binding affinity but phosphate and magnesium decrease affinity. Bone. 2002;31(2):296-302.

26. Lomashvili KA, Wang X, Wallin R, O'Neill WC. Matrix Gla Protein Metabolism in Vascular Smooth Muscle and Role in Uremic Vascular Calcification. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2011;286(33):28715-22.

27. Shroff RC, McNair R, Figg N, Skepper JN, Schurgers L, Gupta A, et al. Dialysis Accelerates Medial Vascular Calcification in Part by Triggering Smooth Muscle Cell Apoptosis. Circulation. 2008;118(17):1748-57.

28. Lomashvili KA, Cobbs S, Hennigar RA, Hardcastle KI, O'Neill WC. Phosphate-Induced Vascular Calcification: Role of Pyrophosphate and Osteopontin. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology. 2004;15(6):1392-401.

29. Triffitt JT, Gebauer U, Ashton BA, Owen ME, Reynolds JJ. Origin of plasma [alpha]2HS-glycoprotein and its accumulation in bone. Nature. 1976;262(5565):226-7.

30. Reynolds JL, Skepper JN, McNair R, Kasama T, Gupta K, Weissberg PL, et al. Multifunctional Roles for Serum Protein Fetuin-A in Inhibition of Human Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Calcification. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology. 2005;16(10):2920-30.

31. Lee JS, Basalyga DM, Simionescu A, Isenburg JC, Simionescu DT, Vyavahare NR. Elastin Calcification in the Rat Subdermal Model Is Accompanied by Up-Regulation of Degradative and Osteogenic Cellular Responses. The American journal of pathology. 2006;168(2):490-8.

32. Pai A, Leaf EM, El-Abbadi M, Giachelli CM. Elastin degradation and vascular smooth muscle cell phenotype change precede cell loss and arterial medial calcification in a uremic mouse model of chronic kidney disease. The American journal of pathology. 2011;178(2):764-73.

33. Bouvet C, Moreau S, Blanchette J, de Blois D, Moreau P. Sequential activation of matrix metalloproteinase 9 and transforming growth factor beta in arterial elastocalcinosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2008;28(5):856-62.

34. Basalyga DM, Simionescu DT, Xiong W, Baxter BT, Starcher BC, Vyavahare NR. Elastin degradation and calcification in an abdominal aorta injury model: role of matrix metalloproteinases. Circulation. 2004;110(22):3480-7.

 Vyavahare N, Jones PL, Tallapragada S, Levy RJ. Inhibition of Matrix Metalloproteinase Activity Attenuates Tenascin-C Production and Calcification of Implanted Purified Elastin in Rats. The American journal of pathology. 2000;157(3):885-93.

36. Bailey M, Xiao H, Ogle M, Vyavahare N. Aluminum chloride pretreatment of elastin inhibits elastolysis by matrix metalloproteinases and leads to inhibition of elastinoriented calcification. The American journal of pathology. 2001;159(6):1981-6.

37. Simionescu A, Philips K, Vyavahare N. Elastin-derived peptides and TGF-beta1 induce osteogenic responses in smooth muscle cells. Biochemical and biophysical research communications. 2005;334(2):524-32.

38. Urry DW. Neutral Sites for Calcium Ion Binding to Elastin and Collagen: A Charge Neutralization Theory for Calcification and Its Relationship to Atherosclerosis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1971;68(4):810-4.

39. Armas LA, Hollis BW, Heaney RP. Vitamin D2 is much less effective than vitamin D3 in humans. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2004;89(11):5387-91.

40. Romagnoli E, Mascia ML, Cipriani C, Fassino V, Mazzei F, D'Erasmo E, et al. Short and long-term variations in serum calciotropic hormones after a single very large dose of ergocalciferol (vitamin D2) or cholecalciferol (vitamin D3) in the elderly. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2008;93(8):3015-20.

41. Holick MF, Biancuzzo RM, Chen TC, Klein EK, Young A, Bibuld D, et al. Vitamin D2 is as effective as vitamin D3 in maintaining circulating concentrations of 25hydroxyvitamin D. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2008;93(3):677-81. 42. Holick MF, MacLaughlin JA, Clark MB, Holick SA, Potts JT, Jr., Anderson RR, et al. Photosynthesis of previtamin D3 in human skin and the physiologic consequences. Science (New York, NY). 1980;210(4466):203-5.

43. Holick MF, MacLaughlin JA, Doppelt SH. Regulation of cutaneous previtamin D3 photosynthesis in man: skin pigment is not an essential regulator. Science (New York, NY). 1981;211(4482):590-3.

44. Hollis BW. Circulating 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels indicative of vitamin D sufficiency: implications for establishing a new effective dietary intake recommendation for vitamin D. J Nutr. 2005;135(2):317-22.

45. Hewison M, Burke F, Evans KN, Lammas DA, Sansom DM, Liu P, et al. Extrarenal 25-hydroxyvitamin D3-1alpha-hydroxylase in human health and disease. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2007;103(3-5):316-21.

46. Dusso AS, Brown AJ, Slatopolsky E. Vitamin D. American Journal of Physiology - Renal Physiology. 2005;289(1):F8-F28.

47. Bourlon PM, Billaudel B, Faure-Dussert A. Influence of vitamin D3 deficiency and 1,25 dihydroxyvitamin D3 on de novo insulin biosynthesis in the islets of the rat endocrine pancreas. The Journal of endocrinology. 1999;160(1):87-95.

48. Pittas AG, Lau J, Hu F, Dawson-Hughes B. The Role of Vitamin D and Calcium in type 2 diabetes. A systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2007;92(6):2017-29.

49. Chen S, Sims GP, Chen XX, Gu YY, Chen S, Lipsky PE. Modulatory effects of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 on human B cell differentiation. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950). 2007;179(3):1634-47.

50. Lemire JM, Archer DC, Beck L, Spiegelberg HL. Immunosuppressive actions of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3: preferential inhibition of Th1 functions. J Nutr. 1995;125(6 Suppl):1704s-8s.

51. Gombart AF, Borregaard N, Koeffler HP. Human cathelicidin antimicrobial peptide (CAMP) gene is a direct target of the vitamin D receptor and is strongly upregulated in myeloid cells by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3. The FASEB Journal. 2005;19(9):1067-77.

52. Su MJ, Bikle DD, Mancianti ML, Pillai S. 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 potentiates the keratinocyte response to calcium. The Journal of biological chemistry. 1994;269(20):14723-9.

53. Feldman D, Krishnan AV, Swami S, Giovannucci E, Feldman BJ. The role of vitamin D in reducing cancer risk and progression. Nature Reviews Cancer. 2014;14(5):342-57.

54. Norman AW. From vitamin D to hormone D: fundamentals of the vitamin D endocrine system essential for good health. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2008;88(2):491S-9S.

55. Nussey S, Whitehead S. Endocrinology: An Integrated Approach. Oxford: BIOS Scientific Publishers; 2001.

56. Bieglmayer C, Prager G, Niederle B. Kinetic Analyses of Parathyroid Hormone Clearance as Measured by Three Rapid Immunoassays during Parathyroidectomy. Clinical Chemistry. 2002;48(10):1731-8.

57. Kuro-o M. Endocrine FGFs and Klothos: emerging concepts. Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism. 2008;19(7):239-45.

58. Powers CJ, McLeskey SW, Wellstein A. Fibroblast growth factors, their receptors and signaling. Endocrine-related cancer. 2000;7(3):165-97.

59. Mohammadi M, Olsen SK, Ibrahimi OA. Structural basis for fibroblast growth factor receptor activation. Cytokine & growth factor reviews. 2005;16(2):107-37.

60. Kurosu H, Ogawa Y, Miyoshi M, Yamamoto M, Nandi A, Rosenblatt KP, et al. Regulation of fibroblast growth factor-23 signaling by klotho. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2006;281(10):6120-3.

61. Chen CD, Podvin S, Gillespie E, Leeman SE, Abraham CR. Insulin stimulates the cleavage and release of the extracellular domain of Klotho by ADAM10 and ADAM17. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007;104(50):19796-801.

62. Imura A, Iwano A, Tohyama O, Tsuji Y, Nozaki K, Hashimoto N, et al. Secreted Klotho protein in sera and CSF: implication for post-translational cleavage in release of Klotho protein from cell membrane. FEBS letters. 2004;565(1-3):143-7.

63. Chang Q, Hoefs S, van der Kemp AW, Topala CN, Bindels RJ, Hoenderop JG. The β-Glucuronidase Klotho Hydrolyzes and Activates the TRPV5 Channel. Science (New York, NY). 2005;310(5747):490-3.

64. Cha SK, Hu MC, Kurosu H, Kuro-o M, Moe O, Huang CL. Regulation of renal outer medullary potassium channel and renal K(+) excretion by Klotho. Molecular pharmacology. 2009;76(1):38-46.

65. Kuro-o M, Matsumura Y, Aizawa H, Kawaguchi H, Suga T, Utsugi T, et al. Mutation of the mouse klotho gene leads to a syndrome resembling ageing. Nature. 1997;390(6655):45-51.

66. Kurosu H, Yamamoto M, Clark JD, Pastor JV, Nandi A, Gurnani P, et al. Suppression of aging in mice by the hormone Klotho. Science (New York, NY). 2005;309(5742):1829-33.

67. Nakatani T, Sarraj B, Ohnishi M, Densmore MJ, Taguchi T, Goetz R, et al. In vivo genetic evidence for klotho-dependent, fibroblast growth factor 23 (Fgf23) - mediated regulation of systemic phosphate homeostasis. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology. 2009;23(2):433-41.

68. DiGirolamo DJ, Clemens TL, Kousteni S. The skeleton as an endocrine organ. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2012;8(11):674-83.

69. Demay MB, Kiernan MS, DeLuca HF, Kronenberg HM. Sequences in the human parathyroid hormone gene that bind the 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 receptor and mediate transcriptional repression in response to 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1992;89(17):8097-101.

70. Canaff L, Hendy GN. Human calcium-sensing receptor gene. Vitamin D response elements in promoters P1 and P2 confer transcriptional responsiveness to 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2002;277(33):30337-50.

71. Burnett SM, Gunawardene SC, Bringhurst FR, Juppner H, Lee H, Finkelstein JS. Regulation of C-terminal and intact FGF-23 by dietary phosphate in men and women. J Bone Miner Res. 2006;21(8):1187-96.

72. Nishi H, Nii-Kono T, Nakanishi S, Yamazaki Y, Yamashita T, Fukumoto S, et al. Intravenous calcitriol therapy increases serum concentrations of fibroblast growth factor-23 in dialysis patients with secondary hyperparathyroidism. Nephron Clinical practice. 2005;101(2):c94-9.

73. Liu S, Tang W, Zhou J, Stubbs JR, Luo Q, Pi M, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 is a counter-regulatory phosphaturic hormone for vitamin D. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2006;17(5):1305-15.

74. Gattineni J, Bates C, Twombley K, Dwarakanath V, Robinson ML, Goetz R, et al. FGF23 decreases renal NaPi-2a and NaPi-2c expression and induces hypophosphatemia in vivo predominantly via FGF receptor 1. American journal of physiology Renal physiology. 2009;297(2):F282-91.

75. Shimada T, Hasegawa H, Yamazaki Y, Muto T, Hino R, Takeuchi Y, et al. FGF-23 is a potent regulator of vitamin D metabolism and phosphate homeostasis. J Bone Miner Res. 2004;19(3):429-35.

76. Ben-Dov IZ, Galitzer H, Lavi-Moshayoff V, Goetz R, Kuro-o M, Mohammadi M, et al. The parathyroid is a target organ for FGF23 in rats. The Journal of clinical investigation. 2007;117(12):4003-8.

77. Tomasello S. Secondary Hyperparathyroidism and Chronic Kidney Disease. Diabetes Spectrum. 2008;21(1):19-25.

78. Sakan H, Nakatani K, Asai O, Imura A, Tanaka T, Yoshimoto S, et al. Reduced renal alpha-Klotho expression in CKD patients and its effect on renal phosphate handling and vitamin D metabolism. PLoS One. 2014;9(1):e86301.

79. Larsson T, Nisbeth U, Ljunggren O, Juppner H, Jonsson KB. Circulating concentration of FGF-23 increases as renal function declines in patients with chronic kidney disease, but does not change in response to variation in phosphate intake in healthy volunteers. Kidney Int. 2003;64(6):2272-9.

80. Go AS, Chertow GM, Fan D, McCulloch CE, Hsu C-y. Chronic Kidney Disease and the Risks of Death, Cardiovascular Events, and Hospitalization. New England Journal of Medicine. 2004;351(13):1296-305.

81. Weiner DE, Tighiouart H, Amin MG, Stark PC, MacLeod B, Griffith JL, et al. Chronic Kidney Disease as a Risk Factor for Cardiovascular Disease and All-Cause Mortality: A Pooled Analysis of Community-Based Studies. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology. 2004;15(5):1307-15.

82. Cunningham J, Locatelli F, Rodriguez M. Secondary Hyperparathyroidism: Pathogenesis, Disease Progression, and Therapeutic Options. Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology. 2011;6(4):913-21.

83. Teng M, Wolf M, Ofsthun MN, Lazarus JM, Hernan MA, Camargo CA, Jr., et al. Activated injectable vitamin D and hemodialysis survival: a historical cohort study. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2005;16(4):1115-25.

84. Jono S, Nishizawa Y, Shioi A, Morii H. 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 increases in vitro vascular calcification by modulating secretion of endogenous parathyroid hormone-related peptide. Circulation. 1998;98(13):1302-6.

85. Mizobuchi M, Finch JL, Martin DR, Slatopolsky E. Differential effects of vitamin D receptor activators on vascular calcification in uremic rats. Kidney Int. 2007;72(6):709-15.

86. Cardus A, Panizo S, Parisi E, Fernandez E, Valdivielso JM. Differential effects of vitamin D analogs on vascular calcification. J Bone Miner Res. 2007;22(6):860-6.

87. Han MS, Che X, Cho GH, Park HR, Lim KE, Park NR, et al. Functional cooperation between vitamin D receptor and Runx2 in vitamin D-induced vascular calcification. PLoS One. 2013;8(12):e83584.

88. Mathew S, Lund RJ, Chaudhary LR, Geurs T, Hruska KA. Vitamin D receptor activators can protect against vascular calcification. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2008;19(8):1509-19.

89. Aoshima Y, Mizobuchi M, Ogata H, Kumata C, Nakazawa A, Kondo F, et al. Vitamin D receptor activators inhibit vascular smooth muscle cell mineralization induced by phosphate and TNF-alpha. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2012;27(5):1800-6.

90. Lau WL, Leaf EM, Hu MC, Takeno MM, Kuro-o M, Moe OW, et al. Vitamin D receptor agonists increase klotho and osteopontin while decreasing aortic calcification in mice with chronic kidney disease fed a high phosphate diet. Kidney Int. 2012;82(12):1261-70.

91. Lim K, Lu TS, Molostvov G, Lee C, Lam FT, Zehnder D, et al. Vascular Klotho deficiency potentiates the development of human artery calcification and mediates resistance to fibroblast growth factor 23. Circulation. 2012;125(18):2243-55.

92. Wu-Wong JR, Nakane M, Ma J, Ruan X, Kroeger PE. Effects of Vitamin D analogs on gene expression profiling in human coronary artery smooth muscle cells. Atherosclerosis. 2006;186(1):20-8.

93. Stubbs JR, Liu S, Tang W, Zhou J, Wang Y, Yao X, et al. Role of hyperphosphatemia and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D in vascular calcification and mortality in fibroblastic growth factor 23 null mice. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2007;18(7):2116-24.

94. Ohnishi M, Nakatani T, Lanske B, Razzaque MS. In vivo genetic evidence for suppressing vascular and soft-tissue calcification through the reduction of serum phosphate levels, even in the presence of high serum calcium and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin d levels. Circ Cardiovasc Genet. 2009;2(6):583-90.

95. Lomashvili KA, Wang X, O'Neill WC. Role of local versus systemic vitamin D receptors in vascular calcification. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2014;34(1):146-51.

96. Chanakul A, Zhang MY, Louw A, Armbrecht HJ, Miller WL, Portale AA, et al. FGF-23 regulates CYP27B1 transcription in the kidney and in extra-renal tissues. PLoS One. 2013;8(9):e72816.

97. Bikle D. Vitamin D and Bone. Curr Osteoporos Rep. 2012;10(2):151-9.

98. Woeckel VJ, Alves RD, Swagemakers SM, Eijken M, Chiba H, van der Eerden BC, et al. 1Alpha,25-(OH)2D3 acts in the early phase of osteoblast differentiation to enhance mineralization via accelerated production of mature matrix vesicles. Journal of cellular physiology. 2010;225(2):593-600.

99. Schembri L, Congiu T, Tozzi M, Guasti L, Cosentino M, Marino F. Scanning Electron Microscopy Examination and Elemental Analysis of Atherosclerotic Calcifications in a Human Carotid Plaque. Circulation. 2008;117(23):e479-e80.

100. Rahman A, Hershey S, Ahmed S, Nibbelink K, Simpson RU. Heart extracellular matrix gene expression profile in the vitamin D receptor knockout mice. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2007;103(3-5):416-9.

101. Hu MC, Shi M, Zhang J, Quinones H, Griffith C, Kuro-o M, et al. Klotho deficiency causes vascular calcification in chronic kidney disease. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2011;22(1):124-36.

102. Shalhoub V, Ward SC, Sun B, Stevens J, Renshaw L, Hawkins N, et al. Fibroblast Growth Factor 23 (FGF23) and Alpha-Klotho Stimulate Osteoblastic MC3T3.E1 Cell Proliferation and Inhibit Mineralization. Calcified Tissue International. 2011;89(2):140-50.

103. Jimbo R, Kawakami-Mori F, Mu S, Hirohama D, Majtan B, Shimizu Y, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 23 accelerates phosphate-induced vascular calcification in the absence of Klotho deficiency. Kidney Int. 2014;85(5):1103-11.

104. Lei Y, Nosoudi N, Vyavahare N. Targeted chelation therapy with EDTA-loaded albumin nanoparticles regresses arterial calcification without causing systemic side effects. Journal of controlled release : official journal of the Controlled Release Society. 2014;196:79-86.

APPENDIX A

## ADDITIONAL SEM IMAGES



Figure A.1 SEM Images (250x) of Day 7 Samples

SEM images of (A) control, (B) calcification, (C) 100 nM control, and (D) 100 nM calcification after 7 days



Figure A.2 SEM Images (5000x) of Day 7 Samples

SEM images of (A) control, (B) calcification, (C) 100 nM control, and (D) 100 nM calcification after 7 days


Figure A.3 SEM Images (250x Magnification) of Day 14 Samples

SEM images of (A) control, (B) calcification, (C) 100 nM control, and (D) 100 nM calcification after 14 days



Figure A.4 SEM Images (5000x) of Day 14 Samples

SEM images of (A) control, (B) calcification, (C) 100 nM control, and (D) 100 nM calcification after 14 days